FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/26/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/25/2023 2:03 PM

101662-0

No. 100300-5

# THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNIFER RALSTON, CALEB MCNAMARA AND THE ESTATE OF TIMOTHY MCNAMARA; BRAEDEN SIMON, ABIE EKENEZER, JESSE HUGHEY, TIM KAUCHUK, JORDAN PICKETT, DANIEL PIERCE, SEAN SWANSON, JOEY WIESER, QUINN ZOSCHKE, JEFF CUSHMAN,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court of King County Honorable Kristen Richardson No. 21-2-06462-7 SEA

PETITION FOR REVIEW

STRITMATTER KESSLER KOEHLER MOORE

# A. Identity of the Petitioners

Class representatives Jennifer Ralston, Caleb Mcnamara, the Estate of Timothy Mcnamara, Braeden Simon, Abie Ekenezer, Jesse Hughey, Tim Kauchuk, Jordan Pickett, Daniel Pierce, Sean Swanson, Joey Wieser, Quinn Zoschke, and Jeff Cushman, and the putative class of plaintiffs in civil cases they represent, petition this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4 of review the Court of Appeals' Decision designated below.

# B. Citation to Court of Appeals decision

Plaintiffs seek discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' Decision filed on December 27, 2022 which held that civil litigants who have been injured or adversely impacted by the legislature's underfunding of the judiciary lack standing to sue the State in order to compel the legislature to adequately fund our superior courts.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Plaintiffs base their request for direct review on RAP 13.4 (b) which provides that a party may seek review in this Court "if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved (RAP 13.4(b)(3); or "if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by [this] Court." (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals recognized that "the judiciary possesses the inherent power to compel the legislature to better fund the courts." But the court then held that "the courts' inherent power to compel their own funding is appropriately exercised rarely and only by the courts themselves. Plaintiffs agree that the judiciary possesses the inherent power to require the legislature to adequately fund our courts." However, Plaintiffs disagree that only the judiciary may exercise its inherent power. Plaintiffs petition for discretionary review of this case so that this issue may be decided by this Court.

Due to the important constitutional issues raised in this case, as well as the significant public interest and policy questions it presents, Plaintiffs seek direct review by this Court of the following issues:

- (1) Do the class representatives and putative class members in this case have standing to ask the courts to exercise their inherent authority on the plaintiffs' behalf?
- (2) Do the plaintiffs have a right to seek a declaration from this Court that the State's failure to provide adequate funding for our courts violates their constitutional right to access the courts without unnecessary delay as guaranteed by WASH. CONST. art. I, sec. 10?
- (3) Do the plaintiffs have a right to seek a declaration from this Court that the State's failure to provide inadequate funding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See Court of Appeals' Published Opinion at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Court of Appeals' Published Opinion at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See Court of Appeals' Published Opinion at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Court of Appeals' Published Opinion at 1.

for our trial courts violates the plaintiffs' "inviolate" constitutional right to trial by jury set forth in WASH. CONST. art. I, sec. 21?

(4) Does the State's failure to provide inadequate funding for our courts violate the legislature's duty to preserve the constitutional separation of powers that inheres in our state Constitution?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The factual basis for seeking review by this Court.

Washington's courts are in crisis. And the people most injured by this crisis are civil litigants, who cannot have their disputes heard without unnecessary delay, because the legislature has failed to adequately fund our courts. This systematic underfunding of the courts is not a new problem; it has been going on for decades. Not only has the lack of adequate funding perpetually left our courts in a state of crisis, this lack of funding also stands as an obstacle to fulfilling the constitutional mandate that "[j]ustice in *all* cases shall be administered ... without unnecessary delay." WASH. CONST. art I, sec. 10 (emphasis added).

Every chief justice of this Court from Chief Justice Richard Guy, who in 2000 inaugurated the tradition of a written State of the Judiciary Report, through Chief Justice Steven C. González, has identified and commented on the systemic inadequacy in funding our courts and the impact that this lack of funding has on the courts' ability to administer justice in our state.<sup>5</sup> For example in 2015, Chief Justice Barbara A.

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  CP 066 – CP 080 (Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint at  $\P\P$  5.22-5.40). See

Madsen wrote that "our courts continue to struggle with high caseloads, reduced staff, old information systems, growing needs for interpreters, and inadequate structures. Meeting the justice needs of the people of Washington requires adequate funding from the legislature." Justice Madsen added, "Justice matters, but the stark reality is that adequate funding is still the most severe obstacle impeding fair, accessible and timely justice for the people of Washington."

Ten years earlier, in 2005, Chief Justice Gerry Alexander specifically highlighted the impact of this funding crisis on civil trials stating:

[T]oo many of our trial court jurisdictions are experiencing crowded court dockets which frequently results in the postponement of trials, particularly civil trials. In three of our four largest counties, the time to trial in civil cases is over twelve months. That, ladies and gentlemen, is too long for people to wait to have their disputes resolved.<sup>8</sup>

Rather than remedy this crisis, the legislature has ignored the repeated pleas for adequate funding from the chief justices of this state by pretending that no crisis exists or by trying to fund Washington's court

also 2023 State of the Judiciary Report,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 048 (2015 State of the Judiciary, Chief Justice Barbara A. Madsen on behalf of the courts of Washington. January2015.pdf (courts.wa.gov)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 047 (2015 State of the Judiciary at 15).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 048 (2005 State of the Judiciary, Chief Justice Gerry Alexander, <u>January 2005 (courts.wa.gov)</u>).

system almost entirely on the backs of our overburdened counties. Yet, responsibility for funding state courts is a constitutional obligation of the State, even if, by legislation, the obligation is shared with counties. Relying on funding obligations imposed on counties, though, is neither constitutionally mandated nor has it proven workable. In the most recent survey on judicial funding, in 2003, Washington ranked <u>dead last</u> in the nation for state spending on its trial courts, a point emphasized by Chief Justice Alexander in an address to the legislature in 2006:

As you may recall, during my last address I highlighted findings of a Trial Court Funding Task Force and our "Justice in Jeopardy" legislative proposal aimed at improving the operations of our trial courts in Washington. A core finding of this task force was that there must be a rebalancing of responsibility for the funding of trial courts so that the state government contributes in a more equitable way, along with local government, to the operations of the superior, district, and municipal courts. As an example of the current funding imbalance, in 2003 Washington State ranked 50th of the 50 states in terms of funding for its trial courts, prosecution and indigent defense, with less than three-tenths of one percent of the state's budget dedicated to the funding of the judicial branch of government.<sup>9</sup>

Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint amply demonstrates that the systemic underfunding of our courts has created a crisis in our judicial system and has damaged our courts' ability to adequately serve the putative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 069 (2006 State of the Judiciary, Chief Justice Gerry Alexander, <u>January 2006 (wa.courts.gov)</u>).

plaintiff class, as well as the citizens of this state. The named Plaintiffs and the putative class of plaintiffs that they represent, have been injured or adversely impacted by the legislature's underfunding of the judiciary. The legislature's failure to adequately fund our courts has resulted in a denial of justice administered "without unnecessary delay" as guaranteed in art. I, § 10 of Washington's constitution. The legislature's failure to adequately fund our courts has also placed an unconstitutional burden on the promise of our constitution to the citizens of this state to keep their right to a jury trial "inviolate" (WASH. CONST. art. I, § 21). Additionally, the State's failure to fulfill its constitutional duty to adequately fund our courts violates one of the core principles underlying our entire constitutional form of government -- the separation of powers.

# **B.** Proceedings Below

Because the legislature has refused to address this funding crisis, the Class Representatives brought this class action lawsuit on behalf all civil plaintiffs who have been or will be injured as a consequence of not having their civil cases timely tried as required under WASH. CONST. art. I, § 10.

In response to Plaintiffs' Complaint, the State brought a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss this case. The trial court granted the State's motion and dismissed the case without a written opinion addressing the

issues or explaining the rationale for its action, essentially punting the consideration of this matter *ab initio* to a higher court.<sup>10</sup>

Plaintiffs then sought direct review of the trial court's decision by this Court under RAP 4.2(a)(4). This Court denied direct review and transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals held that "only the judiciary may wield its inherent power to compel the legislature to better fund the courts." Plaintiffs now ask this Court to grant discretionary review of this case under RAP 13.4 in order for this Court to address the significant constitutional issues and public interest concerns raised by this case.

# C. Applicable standard of review

Appellate review of a CR 12(b)(6) motion is *de novo*. *Gorman v*. *City of Woodinville*, 175 Wn. 2d 68, 71, 283 P.3d 1082 (2012); *Reid v*. *Pierce County*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 200–01, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). In determining a 12(b)(6) motion, the Court's inquiry is limited to determining whether there is any possible legal theory or set of facts consistent with plaintiff's complaint that would entitle the plaintiff to relief. Under this standard, "[d]ismissal for failure to state a claim may be granted only if 'it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 495-496, Trial Judge's Order Dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Court of Appeals Published Opinion at 6.

of facts, consistent with the complaint, which would entitle the plaintiff to relief." *Orwick v. City of Seattle*, 103 Wn. 2d 249, 254, 692 P.2d 793, 797 (1984). In other words, under this standard of review, the court presumes that all facts alleged in the plaintiff's complaint are true and may consider hypothetical facts supporting the plaintiff's claims. *Kinney v. Cook*, 159 Wn.2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206 (2007).

Here, the allegations in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, taken as true, establish that: (1) current levels of judicial funding are inadequate; (2) our judicial system is in crisis due to inadequate funding; (3) the crisis caused by the lack of adequate court funding has adversely affected the availability of justice without unnecessary delay and the inviolate right to trial by jury, as guaranteed by our Constitution; (4) that legislative unwillingness to fund the courts adequately raises serious separation of powers problems; and, (5) that Plaintiffs and the putative class they represent are injured by the untimely operation of the courts due to state-imposed financial constraints. At this point in the litigation, those are facts that must be accepted as true.

In addition, the named plaintiffs alleged that they are currently plaintiffs in civil cases being unnecessarily delayed by the systematic underfunding of the courts, satisfying requirements of standing and ripeness. These circumstances provide a prima facie basis for plaintiffs to

allege a violation of the constitutional guarantees they have invoked. The facts alleged and the constitutional provisions that provide the basis for their claims should have been more than enough for Plaintiffs to have survived the State's motion to dismiss. But the trial court nonetheless granted the State's motion without an opinion explaining the grounds for its ruling. The Court of Appeals held that although the judiciary has inherent authority to require the legislature to adequate fund our courts, "[1]itigants may not wield the judiciary's power in its stead and the judiciary may not ...delegate its power in an attempt to disguise its use." Plaintiffs then filed this petition for review and asks this Court to review this issue.

# IV. ARGUMENT

# A. Plaintiffs have standing to bring this lawsuit.

"Standing is a 'party's right to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right." *Friends of N. Spokane Cty. Parks v. Spokane Cnty.*, 184 Wn. App. 105, 115, 336 P.3d 632 (2014). This case is brought pursuant to the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA). RCW 7.24.020, which codifies the UDJA and affords standing to a party (1) within the zone of interest protected by statute or constitutional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Court of Appeals' Published Opinion at 12.

provision and (2) who has suffered an "injury in fact, economic or otherwise." *Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 173, 186, 157 P.3d 847 (2007) (citation omitted); *Washington State Hous. Fin. Comm'n v. Nat'l Homebuyers Fund, Inc.*, 193 Wn.2d 704, 711, 445 P.3d 533 (2019). In addition, the UDJA is available for justiciable controversies that meet these four elements: "(1) parties must have existing and genuine rights or interests; (2) these rights or interests must be direct and substantial; (3) the determination will be a final judgment that extinguishes the dispute, and (4) the proceeding must be genuinely adversarial in character." *Id.* Notably, the UDJA is "liberally construed and administered," RCW 7.24.120, and "standing is not intended to be a particularly high bar." *Washington State Hous. Fin. Comm'n*, 193 Wn.2d at 712.

In addition, our courts recognize public interest standing, where a case presents "issues of significant public interest that, by analogy to other decisions, allow this court to reach the merits." *Farris v. Munro*, 99 Wn.2d 326, 330, 662 P.2d 821 (1983). Public interest standing is available "[w]here a controversy is of serious public importance and immediately affects substantial segments of the population and its outcome will have a direct bearing on the commerce, finance, labor, industry or agriculture generally," and therefore supports the proposition that "questions of standing to maintain an action should be given less rigid and more liberal

answer." *Id.* (quoting *Washington Natural Gas Co. v. PUD 1*, 77 Wn.2d 94, 96, 459 P.2d 633 (1969). As article I, section 10 establishes, the State has a fundamental responsibility to administer justice without unnecessary delay. Where it fails to do so due to inadequate funding, by analogy to the school funding cases, this Court may declare so. *See McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn. 2d 477, 528, 269 P.3d 227 (2012).

Regardless of the test applied, Plaintiffs have standing to bring this lawsuit. If the civil justice system is plagued by "unnecessary delay," as alleged here, it is hard to contemplate why plaintiffs suffering from that delay lack standing to assert the right, as they have the necessary personal stake in the issue that affords standing to raise the constitutional question.

Marchioro v. Chaney, 90 Wn.2d 298, 303, 582 P.2d 487 (1978).

This Court has recognized that "[j]ustice delayed is justice denied' is literally true for money," because it "deprives [a plaintiff] of its productive use during that time." Lane v. City of Seattle, 164 Wn.2d 875, 888, 194 P.3d 977 (2008). Delaying jury trials affects the receipt of those funds and has a direct bearing on those most harshly impacted by unacceptable delays in having their cases tried: plaintiffs whose injuries range from physical to financial, many with devastating personal and family consequences. The courts' inability to efficiently or predictably address their claims can be as devastating as the underlying injuries that

brought them to court—sometimes even more so than the injury that is subject to suit.

The budgetary crisis within the judiciary also impairs their right to a jury trial to determine appropriate compensation and render a judgment. Plaintiffs who await a verdict so that insurance claims will be paid on their behalf may lose their homes as the result of inordinate and sequential delays of their trials. Long overdue and unpaid medical bills may force others into bankruptcy. Unnecessary delay also impairs plaintiffs' cases because witnesses' memories start to fade and evidence becomes stale. Finally, the judiciary's inability to operate on a sound financial footing undermines its ability to stand as a bulwark of constitutionally guaranteed rights invaded by actions of the other branches, which serves as the basis for separation of powers.

Under these facts, the Class Representative and putative class members all have a current personal stake in the outcome of this controversy of substantial importance, and they should be deemed to have standing to bring this ripe lawsuit.

B. Plaintiffs have a right to seek a declaration and appropriate remedy for inadequate funding of our courts because of its impact on their constitutionally guaranteed rights.

The Constitution establishes three branches of government: legislative, executive, and judicial. Funding each of the three branches

ultimately falls upon the State. Just as it is true that the State must fund the legislative and executive branches sufficiently to enable their operation as the Constitution contemplates, so, too, must the State adequately fund the judicial branch.

Only one provision of the Constitution affecting the judicial branch provides an exception to that mandatory State responsibility. Section 13 of the judicial article splits the funding responsibilities for superior court judges between the state and the county or counties from which that judge is elected. WASH. CONST. art. IV, § 13. If the framers had intended that counties have constitutional responsibility for other expenses of the superior courts and such other courts as the legislature might establish, the Constitution would have employed the same language as Section 13 to create concurrent responsibility. It pointedly did not. 13

-

The Court of Appeals relies on RCW 2.28.139 to support its argument that the counties have a duty to fund the operation of their courts. The statute states that "[t]he county in which the court is held shall furnish the courthouse, a jail or suitable place for confining prisoners, books for record, stationery, lights, wood, attendance, and other incidental expenses of the courthouse and court which are not paid by the United States." What the Court of Appeals fails to address is that in 1979 the voters of Washington passed Initiative 62, codified as RCW 43.135.060,<sup>13</sup> which attempted to curtail the legislature from imposing "unfunded mandates" on the counties, including "increased levels of service," unless "fully reimbursed" by the State. On several occasions this Court has recognized that RCW 43.135.060 places the burden of funding new judgeships and the administrative costs associated with new judgeships entirely on the State.

This conclusion is further bolstered by the "well-established rule of constitutional construction, 'expressio unius est exclusio alterius,'" which holds that that the "express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of the other." Yelle v. Bishop, 55 Wn.2d 286, 295, 347 P.2d 1081 (1959). The principle allows constitutional duties to be implied from an omission. *Id.* Put another way, the omission excludes from the constitutionally assigned county responsibility all which is left unsaid. *Cf. State v. Williams*, 29. Wn. App. 86, 91, 627 P.2d 581 (1981).

The school-funding case, *McCleary* provides an instructive example. The trial court held basic education had to be funded by state-level sources. The State argued that the Constitution allowed it to make ample provision for education using a combination of federal funds as well as local funds not derived from excess levies. *Id.* at 528. This Court disagreed, stating that "the State's reliance on local dollars to support the basic education program fails to provide the "ample" funding Article IX, Section 1 requires. *McCleary*, 173 Wn.2d at 528.

The same concerns voiced in *McCleary* are also present in funding the trial courts. The ability of the counties to provide adequate funding for

See Seattle v. State, 100 Wn.2d 16, 24, 666 P.2d 351 (1983); State v. Howard, 106 Wn.2d 39, 43, 772 P.2d 783 (1985); Tacoma v. State, 117 Wn.2d 348, 358, 816 P.2d 7 (1991).

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