FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/29/2023 3:27 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101662-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNIFER RALSTON, CALEB MCNAMARA AND THE ESTATE OF TIMOTHY MCNAMARA; BRAEDEN SIMON, ABIE EKENEZER, JESSE HUGHEY, TIM KAUCHUK, JORDAN PICKETT, DANIEL PIERCE, SEAN SWANSON, JOEY WIESER, QUINN ZOSCHKE, JEFF CUSHMAN,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

Finally, Plaintiffs' argument that it is the State's exclusive responsibility to fund the Judiciary is unsupported. The State's limited role in funding the Judiciary is addressed in of the Constitution—a provision that is not the basis of any of Plaintiffs' claims. *Ralston*, 522 P.3d at 99 n.1. Under article IV, section 13, the State pays half the salary of each superior court judge, while the remainder of superior court funding is "furnished wholly by the counties." *In re Salary of Superior Court Judges*, 82 Wash. 623, 628, 144 P. 929 (1914); *Ralston*, 522 P.3d at 99 n.1 (citing RCW 2.28.139) (recognizing the State's role in funding the superior courts "is a limited one" under article IV, section 13 and "[w]hat the State does not pay, the counties do"). In suing the State (and only the State) to compel increased funding of the Judiciary, Plaintiffs entirely ignore that the State has never been the sole—or even the primary—source of funding for the Washington superior courts in which Plaintiffs claim they have faced undue delays. *See Superior Court Judges*, 82 Wash. at 628 (describing division between state and county responsibility for superior court funding); *Ladenburg v. Henke*, 97 Wn.2d 645, 654, 486 P.3d 866 (2021) (same).²

² RCW 43.135.060 also provides no support for Plaintiffs' Petition for Review claims. Contra at 13 n.13. RCW 43.135.060(1) restricts the Legislature's ability to impose the costs of *new* programs or services on counties. It does not alter that, throughout Washington's history, counties have been primarily responsible for funding superior courts. Compare Superior Court Judges, 82 Wash. at 628 (describing the division of superior court costs between the State and the counties in 1914) with Washington Courts, Funding our courts: Finding a *balance*, https://www.courts.wa.gov/programs orgs/pos jea/?fa =pos jea.article1 (last visited Mar. 17, 2023) (describing the same division of superior court costs today). Nor can RCW 43.135.060 trump article IV, section 13 of the Washington Constitution.

In short, as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, Plaintiffs have no legally valid claim against the State whereby they may invoke the Judiciary's exclusive and extraordinary right to compel the Legislature to better fund the courts. *Ralston*, 522 P.3d at 100. Therefore, they cannot have a claim involving a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b) and this Court should decline review.

2. Neither the "open courts clause" nor the jury trial right create a state funding duty

Plaintiffs also fail to state legally viable claims based on two provisions of the Washington Constitution—the article I, section 10 "open courts clause" and the article I, section 21 right to a jury trial. Plaintiffs' assertion that these provisions create a constitutional right to State-provided court funding is contrary to controlling precedent, as well as the Constitution's text and history. *Ralston*, 522 P.3d at 104.

First, as a threshold matter, Plaintiffs' attempt to analogize this case, regarding court funding, to *McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 477, 269 P.3d 227 (2012), regarding school funding, is misplaced. *McCleary* addressed a constitutional provision not at

issue here: article IX, section 1, which states: "It is the paramount duty of the state to make ample provision for the education of all children residing within its borders" (emphasis added). This provision creates a "narrow, guarded exception" to the general limitations surrounding courts' inherent power to compel funding from the Legislature. *Ralston*, 522 P.3d at 103 (citing Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1 v. State, 90 Wn.2d 476, 510, 585 P.2d 71 (1978); McCleary, 173 Wn.2d at 518). It establishes a specific right to education funding that is enforceable through citizens' lawsuits. Id. But this Court has emphasized that article IX, section 1 is "unique." Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 90 Wn.2d at 510. Indeed, as the singular "paramount" duty identified in the Constitution, school funding is the exception that proves the rule: "When a thing is said to be paramount, it can only mean that it is more important *than all* other things concerned." Id. at 510-11 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted). Accordingly, "no similar duty and correlative rights arise under other provisions," Ralston, 522 P.3d at 103 (quoting Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 90 Wn.2d at 523), including under article I, sections 10 and 21, upon which

Plaintiffs rely here. *Id.* at 100 ("A lawsuit brought by members of the public to compel specific legislative exercise of its power over funding may only be sustained under our state constitution's public education mandate, not under the provisions relied on by the plaintiffs in this case.").

Next, as the Court of Appeals correctly held, sections 10 and 21 of article I "do not impose on the legislature a duty to act enforceable by private litigants." *Ralston*, 522 P.3d at 104. Plaintiffs thus fail to state a claim under either provision.³ Section 10 provides that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary delay." Const. art. I, § 10. It applies in "two contexts: the right of the public and press to be present and gather information at trial and the right to a remedy for a wrong suffered." *King v. King*, 162 Wn.2d 378, 388, 174 P.3d 659 (2007) (citation omitted). Neither right is implicated here, as Plaintiffs do not allege they have been denied open access to the courts or the right to seek remedies there.

³ The reasons necessitating the delays in Plaintiffs' trial schedules are established by the judicially noticeable case records, and are subject to appeal if these continuances were an abuse of discretion. *See* Section II, *supra*; CP 055–057 (FAC) \P 2.10–2.20 (describing reasons for continuances).

Rather, Plaintiffs allege that they *have* accessed the courts by filing their tort cases, which had set trial dates as of Plaintiffs' initiation of this lawsuit. *See, e.g.*, CP 053–058 (FAC) **(FAC)**

Section 21 similarly does not guarantee a speedy civil trial. It provides only that "[t]he right of *trial by jury* shall remain inviolate[.]" Const. art. I, § 21 (emphasis added). Courts construing the Constitution may not supply absent words, particularly where context shows the omission was deliberate. City of Bothell v. Barnhart, 172 Wn.2d 223, 229, 257 P.3d 648 (2011) (courts may not "engraft" provisions onto the Constitution). Nor should other constitutional provisions be rendered superfluous. Farris v. Munro, 99 Wn.2d 326, 333, 662 P.2d 821 (1983). While the Constitution does contain a speedy trial right, it is expressly limited to "criminal prosecutions." Const. art. I, § 22. This is by design, as the purposes of a speedy trial in the criminal context—"to prevent undue and oppressive incarceration prior to trial, to minimize anxiety and concern accompanying public accusation and to limit the possibilities that long delay will impair the ability of an accused to defend himself'—do not apply in the civil context. *United States v. Ewell*, 383 U.S. 116, 120, 86 S. Ct. 773, 15 L. Ed. 2d 627 (1966).

Finally, neither the "open courts clause" nor the jury trial right applies against the Legislature. Washington courts have explained that section 10 is "a command to the *judiciary*" as to how it administers "judicial proceedings." In re Det. of Reyes, 176 Wn. App. 821, 830, 315 P.3d 532 (2013), aff'd, 184 Wn.2d 340, 358 P.3d 394 (2015) (emphasis added); accord Doe AA v. King Cntv., 15 Wn. App. 2d 710, 718, 476 P.3d 1055 (2020) ("Article I, section 10... requires *courts* [to] conduct judicial proceedings openly and without delay.") (emphasis added). As a provision directed exclusively at the Judiciary, section 10 does not establish a constitutional right to court funding from the Legislature. Plaintiffs seek to extend Section 10 far beyond its well-accepted bounds by asking the Court to convert it into a funding command to the Legislature. The Court has rejected similar efforts to "broadly expand[] the reach of article I, section 10." King, 162 Wn.2d at 390-91 (rejecting contention that section 10 confers "a right to publicly funded legal representation"). Because section 10 does not apply against the Legislature, it cannot support Plaintiffs' suit, as the Court of Appeals correctly held.

Likewise, the right to a jury trial under section 21 creates a duty on the part of the courts, not a funding mandate for the Legislature, and cannot sustain Plaintiffs' claim. In civil cases, section 21's guarantee is implemented through CR 38, which states that "[t]he right of trial by jury as declared by article I, section 21 of the constitution . . . shall be preserved to the parties inviolate," and accordingly provides a procedure for making a written jury demand. CR 38(a)–(b). Plaintiffs' right to a jury trial has not been abridged: their tort cases were undisputedly scheduled for jury trials as of the commencement of this action. CP 053–058 (FAC) ¶ 2.1–2.22.

To the extent section 21 applies to the Legislature at all, it is merely "a limitation on the right of the legislature to take away the right of trial by jury" owed by the courts. *Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc.*, 85 Wn. App. 249, 255, 931 P.2d 931 (1997) (internal brackets omitted). Furthermore, the "right of trial by jury is not limitless." *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 289, 351 P.3d 862 (2015), *abrogated on other grounds by*

Gravel, LLC v. Thurston Cnty., 191 Wn.2d 392, 423 P.3d 223 (2018). For example, in civil trials, it "guarantees litigants the right to have a jury resolve questions of disputed material facts," *id.*, but it is not an affirmative guarantee of a civil trial within a certain timeframe, or where there are no material facts in dispute. See Furnstahl v. Barr, 197 Wn. App. 168, 175, 389 P.3d 635 (2016) (explaining that the "core" protection of the jury trial right is a litigant's "right to have a jury resolve questions of disputed material facts" (quoting *Davis*, 183 Wn.2d at 289)). That is why summary judgment (for instance) does not infringe the right to a jury trial. LaMon v. Butler, 112 Wn.2d 193, 199 n.5, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989). Plaintiffs do not allege *any* infringement of their right to have disputed factual issues determined by juries in their underlying tort cases. Their demand for systemic funding increases simply does not implicate article I, section 21,⁴ just as

⁴ Even if Plaintiffs had alleged a violation actionable under section 21—and they have not—the "only remedy" for a violation of the right to a jury trial "is to grant a new trial." *Robinson v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 113 Wn.2d 154, 160, 776 P.2d 676 (1989). That exclusive remedy not only precludes the relief Plaintiffs seek here, but also underscores that the jury trial right implicates *whether*, not *when* or *how*, a jury trial is held.

it does not implicate article I, section 10, as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded.

B. Plaintiffs Lack Standing

In addition, and closely related to their lack of a cognizable legal claim, Plaintiffs cannot evade the threshold problem of standing. "The claims of a plaintiff who lacks standing cannot be resolved on the merits and must fail." *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn. App. 185, 199, 312 P.3d 976 (2013).

First, Plaintiffs lack standing because they improperly seek to step into the Judiciary's shoes and invoke the Judiciary's inherent power to compel court funding. *Supra* at Section III.A.1. The standing doctrine prohibits Plaintiffs "from asserting another's legal rights." *Trinity Universal Ins.*, 176 Wn. App. at 199; *Washington Hous. Fin. Comm'n v. Nat'l Homebuyers Fund, Inc.*, 193 Wn.2d 704, 713, 445 P.3d 533 (2019) (The doctrine of standing exists to "prevent a litigant from raising another's legal right.").

Second, to satisfy standing under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act (UDJA)—which is the vehicle for Plaintiffs'

21

claims under article I, sections 10 and 21, *see* CP 060 (FAC) ¶ 3.1—the rights Plaintiffs seek to enforce must be within the zone of interests protected or regulated by the constitutional provisions they invoke. *Ralston*, 522 P.3d at 104 (citing *Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004)). Plaintiffs must also establish "existing and genuine rights or interests" and that the requested "determination will be a final judgment that extinguishes the dispute[.]" *Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 173, 186, 157 P.3d 847 (2007); *Branson v. Port of Seattle*, 152 Wn.2d 862, 877, 101 P.3d 67 (2004).

As the Court of Appeals recognized and as discussed in Section III.A, *supra*, "[t]he constitutional provisions on which [Plaintiffs] rely . . . do not impose on the legislature a duty to act enforceable by private litigants" such that the Plaintiffs would fall within those provisions' zone of interests. *Ralston*, 522 P.3d at 104. Nor do these provisions confer on Plaintiffs a genuine "right or interest" in a speedy civil jury trial. *See* Section III.A.2, *supra*. Plaintiffs can point to no explicit textual authority for such a right, in stark contrast with the explicit interests identified in

the cases on which they rely. See, e.g., Nelson, 160 Wn.2d at 186 (2007) (customer had a right not to pay a tax where charging this tax to the customer was "precisely" forbidden by statute); see also Washington Hous. Fin. Comm'n, 193 Wn.2d at 713-14 (petitioner explicitly authorized to act in a governmental capacity had "an interest in preventing unauthorized actors from asserting similar authority"). Article I, sections 10 and 21 protect individual rights in the context of a court case; they do not establish a free-floating right to a speedy civil jury trial, much less a right to State-provided funding to secure the same. Accordingly, Plaintiffs do not fall within these provisions' zones of interest, nor do they satisfy the UDJA's "rights of interest" requirement. As such, Plaintiffs lack standing.

Plaintiffs also fail to demonstrate that their requested relief would extinguish the alleged harm caused by their jury trial continuances. Plaintiffs draw no connection between the various alleged superior court budget shortfalls—for services such as interpreters, civil legal aid, and law libraries—and their trial continuances. *See* CP 091–092 (FAC) ¶ 10.4. This disconnect between cause of action, injury, and requested relief further defeats standing. *See State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 552, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014) (standing requires "a personal injury fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief").

Finally, Plaintiffs cannot establish standing simply by arguing that the issue of court funding is one of great public interest. As the Court of Appeals explained, "public interest standing is extended to ensure that issues do not escape review." Ralston, 522 P.3d at 104 (citing Grant Cnty., 150 Wn.2d at 803). "Here, where the courts themselves are more knowledgeable and better positioned than members of the public to address the systemic underfunding alleged by the plaintiffs," public interest standing is inappropriate. Id. at 104 (citing Yakima Cnty. (W. Valley) Fire Prot. Dist. No. 12 v. City of Yakima, 122 Wn.2d 371, 380-81, 858 P.2d 245 (1993)). For all these reasons, Plaintiffs lack standing to bring their claims, making discretionary review unwarranted for this additional reason.

IV. CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs have failed to present a legally cognizable claim, much less a claim involving a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest that meets the standard for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, this Court should deny the petition for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision below.

This document contains 4,752 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this day 29th of March 2023.

> ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

<u>s/Kendall Cowles</u>
KRISTIN BENESKI, WSBA #45478
First Assistant Attorney General
LIA PERNELL, WSBA #50208
Assistant Attorney General
KENDALL COWLES, WSBA #57919
Assistant Attorney General
OID No. 91157
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 474-7400
kristin.beneski@atg.wa.gov
lia.pernell@atg.wa.gov
kendall.scottcowles@atg.wa.gov
Attorneys for Respondent